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When a person in colonial America died, an inventory was taken of all of their personal property and was 

recorded in court. If they left a will, this was recorded. Sometimes the division of the estate and how it was 

allocated to the heirs was also recorded. 

 

Much can be learned about a person from reading their inventories and wills. To read these documents so that 

the people come to life for us, it helps to know about objects, especially old ones, and to have looked at lots of 

images of such objects. Sometimes, things that were very common 200 to 300 years ago donôt often survive but 

can be identified through prints or paintings from the time period. It helps to know that terminology has 

changed as well. For example, baby walkers existed in the 18th century. In an inventory from this time period, 

however, you would find them listed as ñstanding stools.ò It helps to understand how customs and ideas have 

developed over time, such as room usage, eating habits, textile production, etc. You look for patterns in the lists 

and try to understand how they make sense; you must pay attention to the order in which objects are listed, to 

their value, to who inherits whatðwhether the list refers to slaves, barrels of corn, beds or chamber pots. You 

try to imagine being all the people in these documents and to think of how they would have used the inherited 

objects. 

 

The Heirs and the Will 

 

Abraham Sanders was a wealthy farmer who built a four-room brick house on the river in Perquimans County, 

N.C., in 1730. All three forms of documentða will, an inventory, and a listing of how his property was divided 

among his heirsðsurvive. Sanders died in 1751, and his inventory was taken in September of that year by his 

executors, his brother Richard Sanders and his friend John White. This inventory simply lists all of Abrahamôs 

personal property, from bed linens and kitchen equipment, to tools, to livestock. Richard Skinner and John 

Harvey completed the division among the heirs and listed the values of Abraham's worldly goods. Listed in his 

will of 1750 are his wife Judith Pritlow Sanders (age 54), and his children John (19), Benjamin (9), Elizabeth 

(31), Judith Bois (24 and married), and Abraham (27).  

 



The oldest daughter, Sarah (33) is not mentioned. She was probably not specifically given anything because if 

she was married, she would have received her dowry. In a sense, a young woman who was given a dowry 

inherited her portion of her fatherôs estate at the time of her marriage rather than at his death. It is also possible 

that Sarah died before her father. 

 

Son Abraham, age 27, was also possibly married or living on his own. He had probably already received land 

and possibly a slave from his father when he came of age; these gifts would have represented the majority of his 

part of his father's estate. He received five shillings in his fatherôs will. 

 

In the will, John was given land. He also received in the division a lame Negro slave named Mingo. John's 

mother Judith was appointed his guardian until he became 20, which happened shortly after his father died.  

 

Benjamin, who was only 10 at the time of his father's death, inherited the family house and land where the 

family all still lived. In the division he became owner of Bess, the only female Negro slave his father owned. 

Abraham asked his daughter Elizabeth to be Benjaminôs guardian until he turned 20. It was also stipulated that 

she would have use of her brotherôs Benjaminôs property until his majority.  

 

Daughter Judith Bois received 100 acres next to the family place but no household goods. Again, household 

goods were something she would have already received as her dowry. Possibly she and her husband lived on 

this property. If so, there likely would have been much contact between the two families.  

 

Elizabeth received no land. However, she was the only child to receive specific bequests. These bequests were a 

Negro man named Sambo, a young mare, a case with 15 bottles, a linen spinning wheel, a black walnut chest 

and a table.  

 

What His Possessions Tell Us about Abraham 

 

The remainder of the estate--that is, his personal property and livestock--was to be divided equally among 

Abraham's wife Judith and their children, Elizabeth, John and young Benjamin. However, his wife is not listed 

in the division, possibly because she had died during the time between his death and the division. The recorded 

division of his estate works out to the half-penny, with Elizabeth, John and Benjamin all each receiving goods, 

including slaves, worth £ 69.13.3 ½ (English money). This amazing mathematical feat was accomplished by 

dividing the 981 pounds of tobacco last, in unequal portions, to assure that all three children received equal 

monetary shares of the remaining estate. It is typical of many wills throughout time that parents try to give their 



children equal shares, but the painstaking equity of the division makes one realize how fair Abraham was trying 

to be to with his family members. 

 

His inventory lists only about 175 types of items, not counting multiples. These items (among them ñrugg,ò 

ñshott,ò ñkittle,ò and ñbarr plowò) include chamber pots and kitchen equipment, farming and woodworking 

tools, various livestock and slaves, guns and boats, books and household furniture. The lists tell us that 

Abraham Sanders, his family members and slaves were very self-sufficient people. Today, it seems hard to 

believe he became as wealthy as he was with only 175 types of objects. He and his household nevertheless 

made a rather prosperous living that supported twelve people, no doubt quite comfortably. 

 

As Quakers, the Sandersô religion would have been an important part of their lives. The family probably shared 

the reputation of many Quakers as being prudent business people, industrious workers, and thrifty spenders who 

shunned lavish belongings. Even so, Abraham Sanders was also a wealthy man, to which his land and fine brick 

home attest. 

 

On his land he grew tobacco, corn, wheat, peas, flax and cotton. Livestock included cows, horses, sheep, oxen, 

hogs, bees and geese. There were plows, hoes, and ox carts. There were molds for making buttons and shot, and 

molds for recasting pewter spoons. Barrels were made for home use and sale or trade. He, his sons and slaves 

would have hunted and fished, supplying not only food but skins and hides to make shoes for themselves or for 

sale or barter. They would have dressed the skins themselves. Trees would have been cut for firewood, making 

household objects, and lumber to sell.  

 

Because of documents Abraham Sanders signed with his X mark, it has been assumed he was illiterate. This is 

confirmed by a dispute recorded in New Data from Minutes of Perquimans Monthly meeting (Quaker), 1729-

1736.  There was a judgment against Zack Chancey for readings a lease to Abraham and securing a bond for his 

to sign.  Chancey was one of his brothers-in-law and Abraham would have further disputes with him over their 

wivesô inheritance. 

 

The items he could not have made for himself would have been ceramics, metals, glass and gunpowder. These 

he would have had to purchase or trade for. One of his neighbors was quite likely a blacksmith who would have 

been able to make or repair his agricultural tools. All personal and domestic textiles, whether cotton, flax or 

wool, would have been made by his family and slaves. The family and workers would have grown, hunted or 

slaughtered all of their food. They could have traveled and fished in the water in the periauger and canoes they 

made. Even the sails could have been made on the loom he owned. 

 



Abraham was also a cooper, or barrel maker. The inventory lists more than 100 barrels, which were being used 

for domestic purposes. There were 1,562 barrel staves as well, which he had set aside, likely for sale. No doubt 

his son John, and possibly some of the slaves, had learned the craft from Abraham, too. 

 

From Abrahamôs estate inventories show more objects listed than would have been in the main house. The 

groups of items, as they appear in the lists, seem to indicate there were outbuildings for a cooperôs shop; a 

kitchen; a combination weaving, spinning, dye, and wash house; a barn or stable; and a storage/counting house 

or an office/warehouse where goods for sale or barter were stored and business transactions were conducted. 

 

What the Division of Goods Tells about His Heirs 

 

Although Abraham's will instructs that his wife Judith was to receive an equal share of his goods along with his 

three children, Elizabeth, John, and Benjamin, she received nothing in the division. Even the lame slave Mingo, 

who Judith had inherited from her mother when he was a young boy, was allocated to their son John. That 

Abraham's wishes were not followed leads one to the conclusion that Judith had died after her husband had 

written his will. 

 

There are several items that appear on the inventory list but are not assigned in the division. Many of these 

items appear to be products that would have been sold or traded, such as quantities of wool, cotton and flax, 

walnut plank, barrel staves, hides, and ñyouponò (yaupon, a type of holly used medicinally as a purgative or 

emetic). Perhaps Abraham had intended for his family to continue to work together producing products they 

could sell for cash or to trade for other items they could not supply themselves.  

 

Elizabeth, who at age 31 would have been considered a spinster, received the bulk of her fatherôs household 

goods and much livestock. And she was specifically bequeathed certain items. She was left Sambo, who was 

probably the most valuable slave listed in the probate inventory above old blind Mingo, who was valued at £ 

0.5.0 (five shillings, the same amount left son Abraham), lame Mingo, at £ 25.0.0, and Bess, the only female at    

£ 40.0.0. Because he was an outright bequest, there was no value listed for Sambo, and he did not count as part 

of the equal shares to be divided among Elizabeth and her brothers. However, he is the first slave listed in the 

inventory. The most valuable part of a personôs estate was usually counted first; second were the beds and their 

furnishings (mattress, hangings, curtains, etc.), which were very valuable. In 1750 and until much later in the 

19th century, it was not the wooden bedstead itself that was so valuable but rather all of the textiles associated 

with the bed. These were so expensive because of the considerable labor it took to make them.  

 



By giving her Sambo, Elizabeth's father assured that if she never married, there would still be male help for 

Elizabeth, at least for Samboôs life. He would have been her slave to do work such as planting, tending and 

harvesting crops, tending livestock, shearing sheep, mending fences, slaughtering animals, tanning hides, 

cutting wood, and so on. All work and jobs a husband would have performed. She also received a young mare 

and a small canoe, which would have provided her with her own independent means of transportation. 

 

Elizabeth was given a black walnut chest and table that appear in the inventory in the section listing goods for 

sale or trade that appear to have been stored on the plantation (plantation is used here in the sense of a large 

working farm, not plantation in the sense of a place where the owner had large numbers of slaves). These items 

are listed right after the canoes and boat that Sanders owned, implying that these goods for possible sale were 

perhaps in some sort of storage/warehouse area near the river for easy transport. There is also a safe, which 

appears in this same section with the chest and table, implying that the building where these things were stored 

might have also served as an office. Possibly the safe listed in the inventory is for money or documents, but 

such things probably were not left away from the house overnight. Perhaps it was a food safe, where the 

Sanders kept food and drink for the day or to offer to people who had sailed to their dock to conduct business. 

This handy storage would have eliminated the need to walk the distance to the house compound for 

refreshments.  

 

Since Abraham could not read and write, it is possible that Elizabeth acted as a sort of business manager for 

him, writing out receipts or bills of sales, composing his correspondence, or writing down columns of numbers 

as records for him. Because he was a successful citizen, he could probably do math and business calculations in 

his head but needed help in recording the figures. Perhaps the table was where she worked and the chest (in 

which she could have kept personal items, such as a clean apron, a journal or sewing projects) had been her seat 

when she helped him with his accounts in the warehouse. Maybe that was why he left these two pieces of 

furniture to her. If she had been competent at these tasks, his death may actually have promoted her to full 

business manager for the family enterprise. 

 

The last two objects Elizabeth's father left her were a linen spinning wheel and a bottle case with 15 bottles. 

Perhaps this linen wheel was her favorite to use, as her father had several spinning wheels. Maybe it had been in 

the warehouse/office area and she would spin when not writing accounts for Abraham. Or maybe there was 

some sentimental attachment to it, as it might have belonged to a beloved relative. No doubt she was a 

competent weaver; in the division she received practically all of the textile manufacturing tools, from cards to 

the loom. The bequest of the bottle case we will examine later. 

 



Elizabeth Sanders was also asked to be guardian to her youngest brother Benjamin, who was only 10 when their 

father died. Their mother Judith was appointed guardian of John who was nearly of age (20) when his father 

died, implying their mother would have only a few months to act as his guardian. Did Abraham fear Judith was 

unwell herself and might not live to take care of young Benjamin? Was she already physically unable to care for 

a young boy, so Elizabeth had assumed responsibility for the needs of her young brother? As Elizabeth was 20, 

unmarried, and still at home when he was born, she had no doubt been very involved with his care. Not only 

would she have had sisterly affection for him but also, because of their age difference, maternal affection. If her 

father had trusted her to help with his own business matters, certainly he would have felt assured on his 

deathbed that Elizabeth could handle the responsibilities of Benjaminôs guardianship and to see that his 

inheritance was wisely managed. 

 

Benjamin received the slave Bess in his allotment. Just as Sambo would have helped Elizabeth with tasks a man 

would have been responsible for, by receiving Bess in his portion, Benjamin would have been assured of having 

a female to help with tasks normally performed by women, such as food preparation and textile production and 

care. Depending on when Abraham had acquired Bess, she might have already spent years helping to care for 

his youngest child, who was now her new owner. Also, if Bess had been in the household for a long time, she 

and Elizabeth had no doubt spent many years working together in the kitchen and at the spinning wheels and the 

loom, probably along with Judith and the sisters before they married. Perhaps, too, the able-bodied Sambo and 

Bess were a couple, and this arrangement of ownership assured they could remain together until Benjamin came 

of age in 10 years.  

 

That Elizabeth received in the estate division old, blind Mingo, who was worth only five shillings, or £ 0.5.0 

(English pounds), also highlights her role as a caregiver, which is what the elderly slave would have needed and 

she could have provided. Perhaps there were still tasks he could perform, such as cleaning the harvested cotton 

(removing seeds), weaving replacement bottoms for the flag-bottomed (rush) chairs, weaving the three chip 

baskets listed in the inventory or helping to roll the spun yarn into skeins. 

 

At age 19, John Sanders was undoubtedly able to fish, hunt, sail, slaughter livestock, tan hides, cut timber and 

farm. These were all tasks he would have begun to learn even as a child. It is likely he had practiced his fatherôs 

trade of coopering and had also acquired the skills to continue making shoes and harnesses for the familyôs use. 

In the division John received all of his fatherôs cooper tools, as well as his shoe bench and tools. He also 

received lame Mingo as part of his inheritance. Was this because Mingo had a cooperôs skills and knew the 

craft? If so, then he could have continued to help John with the production of barrels for the farmôs use and also 

continue to produce a cash commodity for income for the family.  

 



What the Inventory Tells about the Occupants, the House and Supporting Buildings  

 

The inventory, as is typical of inventories from this time, begins with Abraham Sandersôs slaves, his most 

valuable assets. The division list parallels the inventory fairly closely, but many items listed in the inventory 

were not assigned to anyone in the division. 

 

In this report, I list all values in English pounds as they appear in the division list. Numbered inventory items 

refer to the accompanying spreadsheet, which lists all the information combined from the two lists. For 

example, an ñoldò writing desk (#52 JS,  

Ã 1.12.6) is just referred to as a desk in the inventory but as an ñoldò desk in the division, where it is designated 

for John Sanders. Words in quotation marks refer to the extra descriptive information in the division or value 

list. Also included after the item numbers are the initials ES (for daughter Elizabeth Sanders), JS (for son John 

Sanders), or BS (for son Benjamin Sanders) to indicate which of his children inherited the line item. If no one 

was designated to receive the object, then NL indicates it was not listed in the division. Again, English money 

values follow. 

 

Slaves 

 

First listed is Sambo, who was willed to daughter Elizabeth. In the division, lame Mingo (whom Abrahamôs 

wife Judith inherited from her parents) is given to John, possibly because he has cooperôs skills. Old and blind 

Mingo is given to Elizabeth, perhaps to ensure he will be looked after in his old age, and young Benjamin 

receives Bess, who will be able to help with his domestic necessities until he marries. After the listing of the 

slaves, the inventory obviously starts in the house. 

 

House Furnishings 

 

Beds 

The most expensive household furnishings, which were beds and all their textiles (also referred to in this time 

period as ñfurnishingsò), were listed next. In the Sanders inventory there were six bedsteads (meaning the 

wooden frames only) and five feather beds (feather mattresses), which are listed by textile identification number 

and the weight of the mattress. Because textiles were so valuable and their production was so labor intensive, 

textiles were often numbered with embroidery so the housewife could keep inventory of what she had. 

 

The most expensive was the first bed listed and inherited by John (#6 JS, £ 5.0.0). This includes a feather bed, 

one bolster (a large long pillow that stretched across the width of the bed) and a bolster case. There is also a 



ñrugg,ò which was a very thick, heavy coverlet, and a blanket. The bed has its ñcord,ò which was the rope 

woven through holes in the side rails to support the feather bed, and a ñmatt,ò which was a woven mat of reeds 

or other material. This mat was placed on top of the ropes to prevent the weight of oneôs body from pushing the 

feather bed through the spaces between the ropes. This bed would have been in the parlor, the room probably 

used by Abraham and Judith Sanders as their own bedroom. 

  

The four other bedsteads listed as having feather beds also have their rugs, mats, blankets, etc., but they also 

have one sheet each. The bed (#6 JS, £ 5.0.0) given to John in the division has no sheet listed with it. Since, 

even without its sheet, this bed was the most expensive, it was probably used by the head of the household, 

Abraham Sanders. The question is: Where is the sheet? There are no extra sheets listed anywhere. This sheet 

would have been an item the women of the house would have made from the cotton or flax that had been grown 

on the place. They would have processed the cotton or flax, spun it into thread, and woven it into a sheet.  

 

Quaker burial practices called for no glorification of the deceased. No headstones were erected, and the dead 

were buried in plain wooden boxes. In the graves that have been excavated at the site, no remains of any type of 

material culture have been found, only nails from the coffins. No buttons or buckles were found with the 

skeletons, which would indicate a lack of clothing on the corpses. Perhaps in Quaker fashion, as his father lay 

dying, John, with the help of either lame Mingo or Sambo, went out to his cooperôs shop where he had other 

woodworking tools and began nailing together a simple six-boarded coffin.  

 

Since it was the end of August or the beginning of September, the weather was still very hot, and one would 

have needed to move quickly to bury a corpse. Perhaps as soon as Abraham died, Sambo began digging his 

grave in the nearby cemetery, which had been established in the late 17th century, nearly seventy-five years 

earlier. Mingo could have taken a canoe out on the river to start passing the news of Abrahamôs death among 

the community. When he died, his body was likely stripped and washed, and then wrapped in the sheet that had 

been on his own bed where he had last slept. The sheet of his best bed thus could have become his shroud. 

 

The second bed (#11 ES, £ 4.5.0) and third bed (#17 BS, £ 3.15.0) listed were inherited by either Elizabeth or 

Benjamin. One cannot tell for sure from the two lists who received which, but I have assigned Benjamin the bed 

whose rug was listed as ñsmallò (#17 BS,    Ã 3.15.0). Elizabeth inherited the fourth bed (#23 ES, Ã 3.0.0), and 

John received the fifth (#29 JS, £ 4.5.0). The feather beds were all carefully weighed and ranged from 29 to 62 

pounds. The two beds with the lightest feather mattresses also had quilts listed with their bed furnishings but no 

rugs.  

 



None of the beds have curtains listed with them. Indeed, there are no curtains of any type listed in the 

inventories. Bed curtains or hangings were used on tall post beds to help contain body heat in cold weather and 

perhaps for privacy in rooms where many people were sleeping. All of Abrahamôs beds had thick bed "ruggs" 

or quilts, along with the feather beds, so perhaps there was no need for bed curtains to stay warm. If they did 

have any tall post beds, then they would have been used without hangings of any type, since none are listed and 

they would have been costly. A tall post bed could be appropriate in the parlor/bedchamber on the first floor, 

where Abraham and Judith would have slept as the heads of the household. It could have been inherited but not 

used with showy bed hangings. It is also possible that all five of these beds were relatively plain with short 

posts. 

 

The sixth bed (#42 ES, £ 0.3.0) is described as a bedstead with an old mat and cord and no textiles associated 

with it. Elizabeth was assigned this bed valued at only £ 0.3.0. It is possible this was a trundle bed that had been 

under her parentsô bed for use by the children when they were small. With Benjamin being 10 and Elizabeth and 

John grown, all three were probably sleeping upstairs by 1750 and there would have been no need to keep this 

bed furnished with textiles. A bed quilt (#35 ES, £ 0.5.0) is the only extra bedding of any type mentioned in the 

inventories. It is valued at £ 0.5.0, more than the sixth bedstead at £ 0.3.0! 

 

Other Furnishings 

 

I would recommend interpreting the second floor parlor chamber as the sleeping chamber for the daughters and 

the hall chamber as the sonsô room. Two beds representing the next most expensive beds could go in the 

daughtersô room. The last two reproduction beds, representing the two least expensive complete beds, should go 

in the hall chamber or sonsô room. 

 

For storage, based on the inventory, there are three chests with a single drawer (#47 ES,  

Ã 0.6.0; #48 JS, Ã 0.5.0; and #49 BS, Ã 0.2.6) and two trunks, an old one listed as being ñold & largeò (#36 ES, 

£ 0.2.6) and the other described as ñold & smallò (#37 ES, 

£ 0.2.0). The most expensive chest with drawer, valued at £ 0.6.0 (#47 ES, £ 0.6.0), was possibly in the hall. 

This chest could have provided storage as well as extra seating. The chest (#48 JS, Ã 0.5.0) described as ñoldò 

but still valued at £ 0.5.0 could have been an inherited, as well as the bed in the parlor. A reproduction based on 

a chest from ca. 1690 might be a good choice for the parlor. Chests and trunks in bedrooms would have been a 

logical place to store the bed rugs and quilts in warmer weather, as well as personal possessions. 

 

The last chest with a drawer (#49 BS, Ã 0.2.6, ñsmall and oldò) might be placed in the parlor chamber along 

with the ñsmaller old & small trunkò (#37 ES, Ã 0.2.0), because female clothing was more voluminous than 



male. Additionally, women needed to store sewing projects, bedding textiles, and other personal possessions. 

This can be a smaller version of the reproduction dome-topped leather and brass tack trunk now in the house, 

could represent a storage piece for the sonôs bedding and clothing in the hall chamber. The large reproduction 

leather and brass trunk now in the house could represent the large trunk (#36 ES, £ 0.2.6) that Elizabeth 

inherited. 

 

The Hall and Quaker Meetings 

 

Is it possible Abraham Sanders was using his hall for Quaker meetings? Such a purpose would have affected 

how the room was used and even how it looked. The Sanders household had at most consisted of twelve people 

(two parents, six children and four slaves). It seems excessive even for a wealthy man to have had 28 chairs, 17 

forks, 18 spoons, 12 large wooden trenchers (very large wooden plates for serving food) and 2 bottle cases 

(wooden boxes for storing 12 or 15 glass bottles for wine or liquor). And why does a man who works his land, 

his livestock, and the river from sunup to sundownðalong with his family and his slavesðneed an hourglass?  

 

When Abraham Sanders began building his brick home on the site in 1730, he and his family already had been 

living there, probably in an older, existing house. He had acquired the property in 1726, and it had already had 

several owners since 1685, when its first owner, Joseph Scott, died. Among the most prominent of the 

propertyôs owners, Scott and his wife Mary lived there from approximately the 1660s until his death in 1685. 

Quakers were beginning to settle the area then, but there were no meeting houses yet. In 1672, George Fox, 

founder of the faith, visited the site and the home of Joseph Scott, where Fox met Captain Nathanial Batts, the 

first settler from Virginia who came to what is now Bertie County in 1655. Possibly the Scotts continued to 

have Quaker meetings at their home on the river.  

 

In 1735 Abraham Sanders was a member of the Quaker community who met to make plans for building a 

meeting house. Obviously, the community had been without one, and what more logical choice than to have 

weekly or monthly meetings at the site where the great George Fox had come to convert many of the 

community to the Religious Society of Friends and to continue meeting where the neighborhood Friends were 

used to doing so. 

 

If they were using the hall of the Sanders house for Friends meetings, then the Quakers would have needed 

many chairs for the adults and elders. Sanders owned 28 chairs at his death. The dozen red-painted flag-

bottomed chairs (#38 ES, £ 1.4.0) possibly stood in this room, along with the best one-drawer chest discussed 

earlier, which would added three or four more seats if used as a bench for meeting services. Perhaps the four 

ñold chairsò (#41 ES, Ã 0.2.0), which might have been inherited furniture of the 1690-1710 period (and possibly 



used in the Abraham and Judithôs parlor bedroom), could have been brought into the hall. If the six red-painted 

flag-bottomed chairs described as ñmeanerò (#39 ES, Ã 0.9.0) were being used in the upstairs bedchambers, they 

could easily have been brought down, giving a total of 26 seats for the congregation. If the six black chairs (#40 

JS, £ 0.10.0) were in an outside kitchen area, they could have been added, bringing the seating capacity to 32.  

 

A man who worked from sunup to sundown outside doing hard manual labor next to his family members and 

slaves had little need for an hourglass. Nevertheless, Sanders owned one, a relatively small item valued at £ 

0.3.0. If he was hosting the Friends meeting in his home, an hourglass could have been useful. Meetings at this 

time would have consisted of a group of Friends, men and women, joining in one place to be together for a 

period of time, an hour perhaps. Sitting quietly in the group might allow you to hear God in your heart (as 

Quakers believed male and female had equal access to God), and then you might be moved to speak. The last 

grains of sand running through the hourglass (#67 ES,          £ 0.1.3) would have indicated to all in the room that 

the hour of silent meeting was about to end. 

 

Perhaps the Sanders would have offered the congregants, who would have been their neighbors, friends and 

relatives, refreshments after the meetings. Female Friends might have brought food or beverages from their 

homes to be shared. The large oval table (#44 ES, £ 0.12.6) in the hall could have been opened up and spread 

with the 12 wooden trenchers (#192 ES, £ 0.1.6) some of the pewter serving dishes, and perhaps the large 

pewter tankard and underplate (#174 ES and #175 ES, £ 0.1.6 together) would have been used to serve a 

communal drink of ale or wine, as was typical of the time period.  

 

The wine would have been kept in the two bottle cases (#50 ES, designated in will, and #51 JS, £ 0.10.0) that 

appear in the inventory. Ownership of two cases implies Sanders was a host who needed to supply beverages 

for large numbers of people, not just his immediate family. He also had a corkscrew (#60 ES, £ 0.0.3) and seal 

(#61 NL). The seal could be an apparatus used to reseal the wine bottles or a tool for impressing wax seals on 

paper. 

 

More research should be done on Elizabeth Sanders and her possible role in the Quaker Meeting, as Friends 

believed that ministry was open equally to women and men. She inherited the majority of the items that were 

being used domestically, as well as possibly for the Friends meetingsð22 chairs, 12 trenchers, the large oval 

table, the pewter tankard and underplate, the larger bottle case, the corkscrew, and three of the four books, 

including the large Bible (BS received the small Bible), a Testament and a Psalter. 

 

From the inventory listing, one would assume that the last three pieces of furniture were in the house. These are 

a small maple oval table (#45 JS, £ 0.15.0), a square pine table (#46 ES, £0.2.0), and an old writing desk (#52 



JS, £ 1.12.6). The pine table, the least valuable of these pieces at £ 0.2.0 might have been used upstairs, possibly 

in the girlsô room, as a dressing table with one of the two mirrors listed (#54 ES, Ã 0.2.5, ñoldò). The second 

mirror (#53 ES, £ 0.2.5) was perhaps in the parlor for Judith to use for dressing and Abraham for shaving. The 

maple oval table could have been in the parlor chamber, along with the old writing desk, which at £ 1.12.6 was 

the most expensive piece of furniture listed, after the beds and their textiles. 

 

The remaining furniture consists of six black chairs (#40 JS, £ 0.10.0) (presumably flag bottomed, as are the 

others), which might have been in the kitchen building or weaving house, and the black walnut chest (#295 ES) 

and table (#296 ES), which were left to Elizabeth and have no value listed, could have been in the 

warehouse/office as their place in the inventory would seem to indicate. 

 

Listed right before the desk are also two bottle cases (#50 ES, designated in will, and #51 JS, £ 0.10.0). The will 

gave Elizabeth the one that held fifteen bottles. These were probably kept in Abraham's room in one of the 

storage closets so that he could control access to their contents. 

 

Household Accessories, Tools and Personal Items 

 

The objects from Abrahamôs ñlanthornò (lantern) (#55 ES) through the 6 ½ lbs. of tow (#121 NL) conceivably 

could have been in the house in the storage closets, the chests, trunks, and desk, as well as sitting out on the few 

table tops, window ledges and mantles. All of these objects appear to be personal and were handy for household 

work projects. 

 

Parlor Accessories 

 

The following items appear to have been in the parlor, which Abraham and Judith were most likely also using 

as a bedroom. These items are listed right after his desk, so one would assume they were in, on, or close to it.  

 

There is only one ñlanthornò (#55 ES, Ã 0.2.6) listed, which implies that not much was being done outside after 

dark. As head of the household, Abraham would have been the one to go out at night if anything was amiss 

outside the house, whether it was intruders or distressed livestock. Or he might have needed to go to the river to 

guide the way back if somebody had taken out the sailboat and had not returned by dark. 

 

The small pair of stillards (#56 ES, £ 0.6.0) would have been used to weigh all sorts of things. The value of 

oneôs pewter was determined by weight, as Abrahamôs was in his inventory. If a neighbor needed to borrow 

flour until he could get his wheat ground, it would be weighed with the stillards so he would know how much 



he needed to return. They also were used to weigh how much cotton was cleaned and how much washed wool 

was processed.  

 

The money scales (#57 ES, £ 0.3.0) would have been necessary for doing business in an economy where many 

different coin currencies circulated. If someone paid in Spanish coins, their weight could be converted to the 

value of English pounds. 

 

The razor and hone would have been Abrahamôs personal razor (#59 JS) and hone (#58 JS, Ã 0.5.0, includes 

value of #59), or sharpening stone. If he were shaving in his room, he probably would have used one of the 

small pewter basins that were listed later in the inventory, as well as one of the small mirrors, which was no 

doubt in his bedroom. 

 

The screw (#60 ES, £ 0.0.3) was a corkscrew, which would have been necessary to open the bottles he kept in 

his two bottle cases. (Again, the seal (#61 NL) could have been for sealing bottles or for use with sealing wax.) 

 

The old carpenterôs compass (#62 JS, Ã 0.0.4), could have been important to him and hence kept in his desk, 

perhaps because he had inherited it. It was a one-person tool. Abraham probably understood the sensitiveness of 

this instrument and didnôt want others to make adjustments to it. 

 

He owned four books: a large Bible (#63 ES, £ 0.7.6), a small Bible (#64 BS, £ 0.2.6), a Testament (#65 ES) 

and a Psalter (#66 ES, £ 0.2.7 with #65). All of these would have been important to a religious man. As 

mentioned earlier, there is a good possibility he could read even if he did make his mark with an X. These 

books might have been brought out at meeting times for discussions before or after the silent meeting, or they 

could have been read out loud at family prayer time. 

 

The hourglass (#67 ES, £ 0.1.3) could have been used to time the hour of silent meetings or, again, family 

prayers or scripture study. 

 

The warming pan (#66 ES, £ 0.1.3) would have been used to warm the bedding on cold nights and would have 

been kept near the fireplace. 

 

The ñcloth brushò (#69 ES, Ã 0.1.6) or clothes brush would have been used as we use them today, except more 

often, as clothes washing then involved much more labor. Using the cloth brush would have made for less 

laundering. 

 



The 3 İ lbs. of ñshottò or shot (#70 JS, Ã 0.1.2) would have been made at home from lead and in the shott mold 

(#88 JS, £ 0.5.0). 

 

The 17 "girt buckles" (#71 JS, £ 0.1.13) are probably buckles for making harnesses for the riding and draft 

animals. These leather harnesses would have been made on the shoemakerôs bench. Perhaps because these girth 

buckles were purchased items and were small and hard to come by, they would have been kept in Abrahamôs 

desk so he always knew how many he had available. John inherited them in the division. 

 

The ten iron candlesticks (#72 ES, £ 0.3.4), valued all together at £ 0.3.4, and the one brass candlestick listed 

(#73 JS, £ 0.6.0), valued at £ 0.6.0, all appear together in what is probably the parlor, where Abraham and 

Judith were not only sleeping but also keeping their valuable objects under scrutiny. As for the candlesticks all 

being in one place, it is possible that the ten iron candlesticks were passed out to family members as they 

needed them. Instead of Judith going about the rooms to collect them, it would have been simpler if each 

morning her children and servants brought to her the candlesticks they had used the night before so the sticks 

could be cleaned and the candles replenished. The most valuable brass candlestick would perhaps have been 

brought out for use for special occasions, celebrations, or events in the hall. 

 

It is possible wife Judith kept a store of beeswax candles in the 2 tin canisters (#78 ES,    £ 0.0.11) listed near 

the candlesticks. Although the canister use is not specified in the inventories (they could have been tea caddies 

but no other tea equipment is listed), they were not expensive items at £ 0.0.11 for both. The small stock of bees 

(#270 ES, £ 0.1.3) Abraham owned at his death would have not only provided benefits to his crops but also 

produced honey for family consumption and the wax for the candles that Judith might have been carefully 

doling out from the sanctuary of their parlor bedroom. 

 

Listed right after the two canisters is a grater (#79 ES,  included in value of #78). It is possible that one canister 

contained nutmeg cloves, which were as valuable as gold at this time, and that the grater, probably kept in the 

parlor, was a nutmeg grater. Nutmeg was used in 18th-century punchða brew of rum or brandy, fruit juice, 

sugar, and water laced with grated nutmeg and sugarðand a nutmeg grater was essential for making the punch. 

 

After the candlesticks, three combs, one of ivory (#74 ES) and two of ñhorneò (#75 ES,   Ã 0.1.6 for all three 

combs), are listed. The horn one could have been made by Abraham or others in his household. The ivory one 

was perhaps imported and more expensive, but because all three combs are listed together on the value list at £ 

0.1.6; it is impossible to determine the individual value of each unless they are all equal. These appear near the 

vicinity of his desk and would likely be personal items. Elizabeth inherited all three. 

 



Listed in between the combs and the canisters and the grater are 3 ¾ lbs. woolen yarn (#76 ES, £ 1.7.6) and 3 ¼ 

lb spun cotton yarn (#77 ES, £ 0.8.1 ½). These items still seem to have been in the parlor. Maybe at dusk, or as 

she was nursing her sick husband, Judith wound the yarns that had been spun in the weaving house. Abrahamôs 

writing desk, at £ 1.12.6 his most expensive piece of furniture after his beds, is only five shillings more than the 

3 ¾ lbs. woolen yarn. This figure is another indication of the value of the laborious work necessary to produce a 

usable textile such as woolen yarn. In comparison, the 3 ¼ lbs. spun cotton yarn is only valued at £ 0.8.1 ½. 

 

There are four items at the very end of the division inventory; while listed last, they were no doubt in the parlor. 

These are a parcel of clothing (#320 NL), 30 shillings (#321, of which son Abraham is left five), Ã 32 ñold 

Billsò (#322 NL) and two meal bags (#323 NL). The parcel of clothing would have been Abrahamôs personal 

clothing, and it would seem very scant in modern times. Even though it is not designated to anyone in the 

division, it was presumably passed on to other male family members or maybe his slaves. 

 

The 30 shillings he was keeping probably in one of the meal bags and the ñold Billsò in the other. These were 

possibly ñBills of Credit,ò a form of paper currency issued by the colony of Massachusetts. (See printout from 

www.bos.frb.org/education/pubs/history, included at the end of the report.) 

  

Hall Chamber and Tools 

 

Abraham Sanders was about 61 when he died in 1751. He made his will the year before in 1750. In it, he states, 

ñ . . . being through mercy in reasonable health of body and in perfect serene mind and memory but calling to 

the mind the uncertainty of this life do think proper to make this my last will and testament.ò His statement that 

he was only ñin reasonable healthò ñbut had a ñperfect serene mind and memoryò implies that at age 60 his 

body was beginning to fail him. If so, then tasks he had always attended to, such as shoemaking for the family 

and slaves, shearing sheep, and fishing for the massive drum fish, might have been turned over entirely to his 

20-year-old son, John.  

 

All of these skills would have been important to keep the Sanders household shod, clothed and fed, as well as 

producing items for cash sale or barter. John had no doubt learned all of these skills from his boyhood, either 

from his father, relatives, neighbors or slaves. With his father ailing, perhaps John was keeping the tools 

necessary to perform these tasks in his own sleeping quarters, probably on the second floor hall chamber above 

the hall below.  

 

The next items listed on the inventories are three pairs of old shears (#80 ES, £ 0.2.0), two drum lines and hooks 

(#81 JS, Ã 0.2.0), 15 hooks (#82 JS, Ã 0.0.7) 15 ñalbladesò (#83 JS, Ã 0.0.8), shoe tacks (#84 JS, Ã 0.0.4) and a 



shoe bench and some old tools (#85 JS, Ã 0.5.0). Even though the shears were possibly in John and Benjaminôs 

bedchamber, their sister Elizabeth inherited the three pairs of sheep shears. Possibly John was doing the job of 

shearing sheep for the family or he was at least responsible for the shears, which could have been imported or 

difficult to come by. That Elizabeth inherited them might indicate her role in producing expensive domestic 

textiles. Probably Sambo would have been shearing the 23 sheep (#276 ES, £ 5.15.0), which Abraham had 

owned and Elizabeth inherited. 

 

The drum fish lines were used to catch large drum fish, some reaching more that 100 pounds, which were 

caught off the Atlantic coast. The line and hooks (#81 JS, £ 0.2.0) to pull in these fish would have been 

substantial, hence their individual listing in the inventory. They were probably among Johnôs belongings, as he 

inherited these. 

 

Next listed are 15 hooks (#82 JS, £ 0.0.7). These were likely used for more normal size fish that could have 

been caught in the river in front of the house. The ñalbladesò (spelled ñaulbladesò) in the division list (#83 JS, Ã 

0.0.8, a penny more than the 15 fish hooks probably made by the local blacksmith) were actually arrowheads. 

ñAlbladeò is apparently an antique colloquial term for arrowhead. Doubtless these could have been found in the 

earth on Abrahamôs property. Because they are listed after the 15 fishing hooks in the inventory, and also in a 

quantity of 15, the logical assumption would be that they were being used as fishing weights. 

 

John also inherited 15 shoe tacks (#84 JS, Ã 0.0.4) and his fatherôs shoe bench and tools (#85 JS, Ã 0.5.0), which 

would indicate he had the skills to make and repair shoes for the family and others. It seems as if the inventory 

takers were still listing objects that were in Abrahamôs four-room brick house. Because of where the tacks fall 

in the list, one would assume that these items were with Johnôs possessions in the room he likely shared with his 

brother.  

 

There is an English print from 1709 that is the frontispiece to Crispin the Coblerôs Confutation of Ben Hoadley, 

which depicts a man making or repairing shoes in what is obviously his bedchamber, complete with chamber 

pot and books. This practice of shoemaking in domestic areas is seen again in a print from 1800, fifty years after 

Abraham died, which shows a cobbler with his tools and bench in what is obviously his kitchen. In this print, 

Coblerôs Hall, it appears that the home cobbler has a permanent work station in the kitchen, as his tools are 

neatly arranged on a rack attached to the kitchen wall behind his work bench. His wife works at kitchen chores 

only a few feet from his workbench. Abrahamôs inventory lists twelve pounds of raw deerskins (#86 JS, Ã 

0.15.0 lbs.) just after the shoe bench. (The family would have hunted deer for meat and then used the skins for 

shoes.) Look again at the 1709 print to see how this leather would have been next to the bench for use. (Copy of 

print at end of report.) 



 

Next listed are four reap sickles (#87 JS, £ 0.2.0), which seem out of place in a bedchamber, but maybe John 

and young Benjamin had been harvesting Abrahamôs wheat crop and had returned to the house with them.  

 

The shot mold (#88 JS, £ 0.5.0) and the tap borer (#89 JS, £ 0.0.7 ½) are the last three items of household 

equipment John might have already been in charge of when his father died. The inheritance of the shot mold 

(#88 JS, £ 0.5.0) would indicate that, at age 20, John was responsible for making lead shot for the two guns 

Abraham owned. Perhaps John, with his fatherôs gun, had killed the deer, then used its skin to make the objects 

at his shoe bench. He probably turned over the shot to his father, who stored it in or near his desk with the 3 ½ 

lbs. of shot already mentioned in item #70. 

 

The last object in this group that appears to already be in son Johnôs procession is the tap borer (#89 JS, Ã 0.0.7 

½ lbs.). As already mentioned, John, at age 20 in 1751, was no doubt a competent barrel maker or cooper. A tap 

borer is a tool used to cut a hole in a barrel containing a liquid. One would assume it would be the head of the 

householdôs responsibility to tap the keg. If Abraham was unwell, this is a job he would have had John assume, 

especially if John had made the keg to be tapped for a Quaker meeting or other occasion. 

 

There appear to have been no belongings other than the beds, chest, table and mirror in the parlor chamber 

where Elizabeth likely had her bedroom. At age 30, any other possessions in the room were probably her own 

and therefore were not counted in the inventories. More of the household textiles might have been stored here; 

they were things she had made herself and were therefore considered hers. 

  

Storage Closets 

 

When counting inventory items #90 through #96, it seems the list makers moved to physical areas involved with 

beverage storage and serving. Perhaps these items were in one of the storage closets in the hall. (Is it possible 

there were shelves in these areas?) Here the four stoneware jugs listed (#90 ES, £ 0.10.0; #91 ES, £ 0.2.0; and 

#92 ES,  

£ 0.0.7 ½) could have held beverages for family use in the house as well as for visitors. There were also six 

stoneware mugs, three quart size and three pint size. (#94-96 ES, JS, BS). All three of the children received one 

of each size; a quart and a pint together were valued at £ 0.1.6. 

 

There are two chamber pots (#97 & #98 ES, £ 0.1.3 each) listed after the mugs. One was made of earthenware 

and the other stoneware. Perhaps these were stored in this area after being cleaned and were taken to a 



bedchamber at night as needed. If reproductions are obtained, one could be put in the parlor and the other 

upstairs in the parlor chamber, with the assumption being that women would need them more likely than men. 

 

It is possible the next group of itemsðwhich were dishes for pudding (#99 ES, £ 0.2.0), milk (#100 ES, £ 

0.1.0), and butter (#101 NL & #102 ES, £ 0.0.7 ½)ðwere also being stored in this same closet with the 

stoneware jugs. Butter does not actually require refrigeration, and the cream could be set here to rise. Right after 

these listed items are two small ñoldò pocket bottles (#103 ES, Ã 0.0.7 İ), which were like small flasks for rum 

or other drinks that a person could carry on them. 

 

Items #104 through #121 were things that might have been in the second closet in the hall. There is 13 pounds 

of spun tow (#104 ES, £ 0.6.6). (Tow consists of the shorter fibers that remain when flax is separated during the 

hackling process. These short fibers can be spun to make yarn or twine.) Also there is 1 ½ pounds of coarse 

yarn (#105 ES,    Ã 0.1.6) and a little over 100 pounds of ñruff brokeò flax that appears to have been divided 

between Elizabeth and Benjamin. (It would be interesting to determine how big of a pile 100 pounds of broke 

flax would make.) These items might have involved a textile production project that was being performed in 

front of the fireplace in the evenings, as there is nearby a flax hackle (#113 BS, £ 0.13.4) that young Benjamin 

inherited. Maybe one of his tasks was hackling the flax, which would have been necessary before spinning the 

fibers into thread. At the end of the group, there is another 6 1/3 pounds of tow (#121 NL) that did not appear 

on the division list. 

 

Items #109 through #112 are tablecloths and towels, all of which Elizabeth received in her share of her fatherôs 

estate. The ñoldò tablecloths would have been used on the large oval table that probably stood in the hall for 

dining. 

 

On the inventory list there is an entry for two ñold gunsò (#114 NL and #115 JS, £ 1.5.0). However, the division 

list mentions only one gun, which John received. Interestingly, it is referred to as a ñbuckernear gun.ò This 

would have been an old-fashioned gun by this time, so it might have belonged to Abrahamôs father or 

grandfather. The second gun is not listed at all in the division. Appearing on the inventory right after the guns is 

a line item for ñsmall gunpowder, powder horn and beltò (#116 BS, Ã 0.15.0), which Benjamin received. 

 

Also stored in the closet could have been the 15 pounds of ñold ironò (#117 ES, Ã 0.2.6). This type of entry on 

household inventory lists from the 18th and 19th centuries appears frequently. However, there appears to be no 

research indicating what ñold ironò was. Logically, though, it would appear to be a box where the family kept 

scrap iron from broken kitchen utensils and agricultural tools such as hoes. Perhaps this scrap iron was being 

saved to take to the local blacksmith for repair or to be forged into new implements the family might need. 



Sanders owned no blacksmith tools of his own, so the blacksmithing needs of the family would have been 

provided by someone in the community.  

 

The ñoxxò bell (#118 ES, Ã 0.2.0) was possibly also in the hall storage closet. Perhaps it was only attached to 

the oxen when they were let out to forage.  

 

The last two items that appear to have been in the storage closet are 3 tumblers (#119 ES, £ 0.1.6) and 2 dram 

ñdrinkingò glasses (#120 ES, Ã 0.0.8). All of these would have been used for serving wine or spirits to the 

household and visitors. This would have been convenient, as the bottle cases were in the house. 

 

The items in the closet appear to have been the last objects in the house, as the next items were clearly in a 

cooperôs workshop, which would indicate that these were in another building. 

 

Other Buildings on the Site 

 

Besides items kept in the 1730 brick house, there appear to have been at least five distinct groupings of objects 

that would necessitate correlating outbuildings. These groupings indicate a cooperôs shop (#122-143), a kitchen 

(#144-200), a barn/stable/shed for agricultural implements (#201-220), a wash/weaving/dye house (#221-266) 

and an office/storage/warehouse near the river (#281-311). Also, there was likely a dock to load and unload the 

"pettagega" (periauger) as well as other boats that came to trade. There would have been at least a couple of 

pasture areas between the house and the river for the sheep, horses, cows, and oxen. The pigs could have 

possibly run loose in the woods. 

 

If the 17th-century building that Joseph Scott had used for a dwelling was still standing in 1750 when Abraham 

Sanders died, it is likely that it provided some of the spaces for these different activities. Abraham bought the 

property in 1726. The house he built was not begun until 1730. He and his young family could have lived in the 

old house until the new house went up. 

 

According to Tom Parramoreôs 1973 report, the earlier house was ñmost likely post-in- ground construction . . . 

(and may) have consisted of two main rooms (and) a shed addition.ò It also seems possible that the clay for the 

bricks for the 1730 house was dug near this site. Brick making would have taken quite a while, as the clay had 

to be dug, and the bricks formed and then fired (probably in small batches) until there were enough to build the 

new house. 

 



If this were the case, then after the new brick house was built, one of the main rooms of the old house could 

have continued to be used as a kitchen, the other room as the wash house, and the shed for the cooperôs tools. 

This structure could have had a loft where Sambo, Liz and the two Mingos could have lived if there was no 

separate slave housing on the property. The slaves' few belongings would have been considered their own, 

especially if they had constructed any of their beds, chairs, or tables. One never sees the contents of slave 

houses listed in inventories.  

 

If Abraham tore down the original house after he constructed his new house (which would have seemed 

wasteful if it was in good repair), then he would have had to construct other buildings close by for his kitchen, 

cooperôs shop, weaving house/laundry, and housing for his slaves.  

 

The rest of the buildings would have included a barn or stable, perhaps a storage shed that would have had a 

space for the agricultural implements (listed as items #201-220), and the riverside warehouse (for items #281-

311) where it seems Abraham was conducting business. 

 

Cooperôs Tools  

 

John Sanders inherited all of his fatherôs tools, of which 7 are very specific ones used only by coopers and 14 

others are interchangeable or necessary for other woodworking projects. A few years after Abrahamôs death, 

John was a recognized cabinetmaker. He died in 1777; he referred to himself in his will as a joiner by trade. 

According to John Bivens in his book The Furniture of Coastal North Carolina 1700-1820, John Sandersôs 

inventory represents ñthe most extensive shop inventory recorded for an eastern North Carolina cabinetmaker.ò 

Given the tools John inherited from his father, it would seem that Abraham had these joining skills, too, as did 

possibly his slaves. Based on the tools Abraham owned at the time of his death he possibly could have made 

most of his structures and possessions himself. 

 

Kitchen 

 

Based on the inventory, the kitchen seems to be outside of the house. Because of this, there is no need to try to 

recreate a kitchen in the hall. Perhaps Sanders had planned from the beginning that the hall would be used for 

Quaker meetings since there was not a meeting house in the vicinity until later in the 1730s. Because of this, 

you might want to select for display in the hall just a few items that would have been brought there from the 

kitchen, such as the 12 round wooden trenchers (#192 ES, £ 0.1.6), 10 forks (#156 NL), and some of the pewter 

for serving or for using as wash basins in the house. 

 



Conclusions 

 

More research should be done on the Sanders family. Of the children named in the will John became a very 

competent and prolific cabinetmaker. It would be interesting to discover how long Benjamin remained on the 

property and what his occupation was and how he fared in life. Elizabeth and her possible role in the Quaker 

meetings should also be researched. Information needs to be gathered on the other Sanders children to see how 

long they remained near each other. 

 

There are two other documents in Abraham Sanderôs probate folder. The possibilities suggested by these two 

documents need more exploration. One document appoints John Murdaugh as guardian of Benjamin in 1755. 

This would be the same John Murdaugh who had witnessed Abrahamôs will in 1750, so there is some sort of 

connection between him and the Sanders family. Had Elizabeth died or married? Had John Sanders left to go 

live on his own property? This would appear to be the case, as the last document is a 1757 accounting to the 

court of what has been spent for Benjaminôs upkeep that the guardian should be reimbursed for. It is mainly for 

the purchase of imported fabrics, the payment of a seamstress or tailor to make shirts, trousers and britches, and 

to purchase hose, shoes, and a hat. No one is at home producing these things for the now-teenaged Benjamin. 

What changed and how did it affect the contents of the house and room usage?  

 

Coopering tools and weaving equipment could be acquired and set up in the visitorsô center where 

demonstrations could also be given. The same could be done with objects that were in the weaving/wash house 

to show what was involved with 18th-century textile production. 

 

With the grant to obtain textiles, I suggest that the restoration continue obtaining the appropriate textiles called 

for in the inventory and setting up the six bedsteads in the house. 

 

Because the goal of the Newbold White House is to allow visitors to use the items in the house and because 

fundraising dinners are hosted there, the next pieces best to have reproduced would be the set of 12 red chairs. 

The chairs should be comfortable enough to use at the large oval table, which needs to reproduced or purchased.  

 

After that it would be good to obtain the shoemakerôs bench (another craft you could demonstrate along with 

the weaving and coopering). The remaining chests, trunks, tables and chairs could come last or as money 

permits. 

 

Small objects that are not accurate reproductions should be removed now. Reproduction pottery, table ware, 

glassware, candlesticks and even the ñbuckernear gunò can be purchased fairly reasonably by an internet search 



and again as money allows. Perhaps you could add a gift registry page to your Web site that links visitors to the 

objects you want to purchase for use in the house. 

 

The pages that follow this report show objects representative of the types of objects I believe the site should 

purchase or attempt to have reproduced. I have included pictures of cooperôs tools, as well as other images that 

indicate the relative paucity of objects even wealthy people owned in Abraham Sanders's time period. Also 

attached are articles that about the role of Quaker women and about storage closets and their use at this time. 

 

Much further down the road, as more archaeology can be done, perhaps more of the outlying buildings can be 

discovered. Such findings may refute or corroborate assumptions I have made based on Abraham Sandersôs 

estate records. With this future knowledge in hand, decisions then can be made about whether the site wants to 

duplicate these structures on their original sites and furnish them to reflect life on a wealthy Quakerôs plantation 

on the Perquimans River in the early 18th century. 

 



SECTION ONE 













 



SECTION TWO  






